Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-6-2018

Lee v. Willow Creek Ranch Estates No. 2 Subdivision Homeowners' Association, Inc. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45390

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Dale and Kathi Lee ("Appellants" or the "Lees"), appeal the district court's August 31, 2017 Memorandum Decision and Order on Parties' Motions for Summary Judgment and HOA's Motion to Amend ("Memorandum Decision") wherein the district court granted Willow Creek Ranch Estates No.2 Subdivision Homeowners' Association, Inc.'s ("Willow Creek HOA" or "HOA") motion for summary judgment and denied the Lees' motion for summary judgment. See Memorandum Decision, p.9 (R., p. 239). Simply stated, the Lees assert the district court erred by concluding that the doctrine of "partial performance" was not applicable to the present circumstances even though all the material terms of an easement agreement were fully performed and evidence in the record could have been utilized to resolve any potential material ambiguity. The Lees also claim that, to the extent that this Court determines that the doctrine of partial performance is not applicable, this Court should extend the doctrine of equitable servitude to cover present circumstance. As set forth below, the equities clearly favor the Lees. It is uncontroverted fact that that there was an agreement to provide the Lees access to their property from Kemp Road and to construct three access points. Moreover, there is no "real life" ambiguity regarding the agreement as the agreement was substantially performed. undisputed that the Lees were provided access and are presently accessing their property from Kemp Road using the three access points constructed by the parties to the agreement. And, it is also clear from the record that relevant parties had knowledge of the agreement and of the Lees' use of the access points. Here, however, the district court never got to a point to apply these equities because it concluded as a matter of law that those equitable theories are precluded under

Idaho law. The Lees respectfully disagree with this legal assessment and submit that the district court erred in that determination.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

In the summer of 1997, Dale Lee was approached by the Kemps regarding a possible real estate transaction. See June 17, 2016 Declaration of Dale Lee ("Lee Decl."), ¶2 (R., p. 39). The Kemps and the Lees both owned real property north of Purple Sage Road in Middleton, Idaho. See Lee Decl., Ex. A (Exhibit A is a map of the property reflecting ownership of the land in 1997) (R., p. 43). To develop the "Kemp property" the Kemps needed approximately 1.8 acres of real property owned by the Lees. The Lees agreed to sell them the 1.8 acres needed, but required as a condition of that sale, that they be given access to the road constructed by the Kemps on the Kemps property. See Lee Decl., ¶4 (R., p.39). As explained by Dale Lee in his declaration: "My wife and I were willing to sell them [the Kemps] the 1.8 acres needed, but as a condition of that sale, wanted to ensure that we would have access to the road [] that was to be constructed by the Kemps." Id. Accordingly, Mr. Lee testified that the Kemps and the Lees agreed that "[a]ccess to Kemp Road, [would be] given as a condition to the sale of the 1.8 acre parcel." The real estate agent involved in the transaction was Alan Mills. See Lee Decl., ¶5 (R., p.39); see also June 14, 2015 Declaration of Alan Mills ("Mills Decl."), Exhibit A. (R., p.37). The road referenced above, presently known as Kemp Road, runs along the south border of the Kemp property ("Kemp Road"). See Lee Decl., ¶6 (R., p. 6).

On June 1, 1997, the Lees and the Kemps executed an Agreement for Sale of Real Property ("1997 Agreement" or "Agreement"). *See* Lee Decl., Exhibit B (R., p.44). The 1997

Agreement referenced the fact that the Lees had agreed to sell to the Kemps the 1.8 acres of real property needed by the Kemps to develop their property into the present day subdivision and home owner's association and that in exchange the Lees would be given access to Kemp Road. *Id.* The 1997 Agreement also explained that the Kemps and the Lees were planning future development of their adjoining properties--both the Kemp property and the Lee property. *Id.* And, recognizing future development by the Lees, the 1997 Agreement expressly stated that the Lees would be given three access points to the road:

Seller [Lees] shall also be entitled to 3 driveway access from the gravel road [Kemp Road] to be constructed by Buyer [Kemps] adjoining Seller's [Lees'] property. Such access shall be constructed at Seller's [Lees'] cost and subject to Seller [Lees] obtaining any necessary governmental approvals.

Id. Accordingly, the Lees sold the Kemps the property and the Kemps began developing the subdivision that is now Willow Creek Ranch Estates #2. *See* Lee Decl., ¶12 (R., p. 40).

In 2000, as part of the development, Kemp Road was constructed. The road was asphalted and, consistent with and in performance of the agreements and expectations of the Kemps and the Lees, three driveway access points were constructed giving the Lees' property adjacent to Kemp Road three access points to Kemp Road as agreed. *See* Lee Decl., ¶13 (R., p. 40). To be clear, this construction included the creation of the three access points referenced in the 1997 Agreement and included substantial improvement including twenty-four foot culverts and gravel extending from Kemp Road to the Lees' property. Around that same time, wood fencing and metal gates that corresponded to the three access points were also constructed by the Lees along the road—again, giving the Lees' property clear and obvious access to Kemp Road.

See Lee Decl., ¶14 (R., p. 40, 226-230), Ex. C (R., p. 45); see also Horn Aff., ¶8 (R., p. 178). The construction of the road and access points constituted performance of the agreement between the Lees and the Kemps that the Lees would be given the access. Indeed, the only aspect of the agreement that had arguably not been performed was that the Lees had not yet sought "necessary governmental approvals" to use the road.

Significantly, one of the access points was constructed adjacent to a lot purchased by Mr. Horn. *See* Horn Aff., ¶6 (R., p. 176). According to Mr. Horn, a member of the HOA, because of the access points and the gates, it was obvious to him and to the other HOA members living in the subdivision, that the Lees accessed their property through Kemp Road. *See* Horn Aff., ¶7 (R., p. 176) ("It was obvious to me and anyone living in the subdivision, that the Lees accessed their property from Kemp Road.").

In 2005, as part of the continued development of the Willow Creek Ranch Estates, the Kemps transferred Kemp Road to the HOA as a common area owned by the HOA. *See* Lee Decl., Ex. D (LEE0010) (R., p. 50) ("The Trust was the developer of Willow Creek Ranch Estates. The Kemps transferred Kemp Lane to the HOA as part of the common area owned by the Association."). Of note, the "Warranty Deed" provided to the HOA from the Kemps, did not convey Kemp Road free from all encumbrances, but rather excluded from the conveyance "all existing easements and rights-of-ways of record or implied." *See* August 4, 2016 Affidavit of Matthew C. Parks in Support of Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment ("Aug. 4, 2016 Parks Aff."), Ex. D (R., p. 101). Again, this conveyance was after

Kemp Road and the access points had been constructed and after the Lees had been provided access and were using Kemp Road as witnessed by HOA member Mr. Horn.

To be clear, there is substantial evidence that the HOA—when it received Kemp Road from the HOA—had knowledge of the Lees' use and access of Kemp Road. From its inception until 2005, the HOA and the board of directors for the HOA had been primarily controlled by the Kemps. *See* Mills Decl., Ex. A (R., p. 37). Mary Kemp, trustee of the Kemps, and Alan Mills, the Kemps' real estate agent, served as the initial board members for the HOA. Mr. Mills served as president. *Id.* Alan Mills has admitted that he had knowledge of the Kemps' agreement to provide access points along Kemp Road to the Lees. *Id.* Mr. Mills testified as follows:

During the development of the Willow Creek Subdivision, I served as one of the initial board of directors for the Willow Creek Ranch Estates No. 2, Subdivision Homeowner's Association Inc. (the "HOA") along with Mary Kemp, the trustee for the Kemp Family Trust. As the developer of the Subdivision and who also controlled the HOA, the Kemp Family Trust paid to have the three driveway access constructed just as the parties agreed to do in the Agreement For Sale of Property. As a former HOA board member, I can say with a high degree of certainty that the HOA at the time was aware of the Agreement and its terms regarding the three driveway access.

See Mills Decl., Ex. A (R., p. 37) (emphasis added).

Thus, at the time that Kemp Road was transferred to the Willow Creek HOA in 2005, the evidence in the record clearly establishes that the Willow Creek HOA Board of Directors had actual knowledge of an easement agreement, including the Kemps' agreement to provide the Lees the three access points, that the easement agreement was performed, and that the Lees were accessing Kemp Road. Furthermore, due to the construction of the three access points, including

culvert construction, gravel work, fencing and gates (*i.e.*, the performance of the easement agreement), the HOA and its members had constructive notice of an easement agreement that allowed the Lees to use Kemp Road to access their property through those three access points.

Accordingly, it came as a significant surprise when the HOA objected to the Lees' attempts to proceed with the county (*i.e.*, governmental approval) to develop the property and to create driveways for homes utilizing the access points--access points that had already been constructed. Accordingly, on April 11, 2016, the Lees initiated legal action to prevent the HOA from blocking their work with the county. That legal action, the underlying action, was a declaratory action requesting a determination from the district court that "Kemp Road, is encumbered by equitable servitudes, conditions and restrictions allowing for access by the Lees..." *See* Complaint, p.6 (R., p. 16).

Significantly, because it was undisputed that the 1997 Agreement, by itself, was not an enforceable easement agreement, the existence of an enforceable encumbrance centered on two legal theories: 1) partial performance of an easement agreement memorialized at least in part by the 1997 Agreement and 2) equitable servitude—that the equities created an encumbrance that prevented the HOA from preventing the Lees from using Kemp Road. First, the Lees asserted that the agreement between the Kemps and the Lees—that the Lees would be given access to Kemp Road—had been partially performed and became an enforceable agreement regardless of the statute of frauds issues identified by the HOA. Second, the Lees claimed the existence of an equitable servitude because it was uncontroverted fact that the HOA Board and membership had knowledge of the Kemps' agreement to provide the Lees with access to Kemp Road and that it

was not equitable or fair to preclude the HOA from presently precluding the Lees from accessing Kemp Road.

The HOA disagreed and, ultimately, in the spring and summer of 2017, both parties moved for summary judgment. *See* May 18, 2017 Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment (R., p. 115) and July 21, 2017 Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment or Alternatively Partial Summary Judgment on Issue of Partial Performance (R., p. 157). As a basis for summary judgment, the HOA argued that Idaho's Statute of Limitations precluded the Lees from arguing that an easement agreement existed or was enforceable. The HOA argued the Statute of Limitations precluded evidence of the agreement because: "The 1997 Agreement does not contain a valid legal description of the purported easement...[and that] [t]he 1997 Agreement is not notarized and the record contains no evidence that can establish the Kemp Family Trust executed the 1997 Agreement." *See* May 18, 2017 Memorandum in Support of Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, p.2 (R., p. 118). The HOA also asserted that Lees were not entitled to an "equitable servitude because the elements of establishing an equitable servitude cannot be established." *Id.* at p.3 (R., p. 119).

On August 31, 2017, the district court issued a Memorandum Decision and Order on Parties' Motions for Summary Judgment and HOA's Motion to Amend ("August 31, 2017 Memorandum Decision" or "Memorandum Decision") (R., p. 231). In that Memorandum Decision, the district court addressed both the "equitable servitude" and "partial performance" arguments. The district court appreciated the Lees' arguments and found a factual dispute as to whether the HOA had knowledge of an underlying easement agreement. The district court did

find, however, that Kemp Road had in fact been constructed, that the access points from Kemp Road to the Lees' property had also been constructed, including "culverts and gravel extending Kemp Road to the Lee's property," and that "fencing and metal gates corresponding to the access points corresponding to the 3 access points were constructed along the property." *See* Memorandum Decision, pp. 2-3 (R., pp. 232-33). Notwithstanding these factual findings and the factual dispute over the HOA's prior knowledge of the agreement, the district court concluded that summary judgment, as a matter of law, should be entered in the HOA's favor.

The HOA rejected the Lees argument that they were entitled to an easement. First, with regard to the "equitable servitude" argument, the district court concluded that there could be no equitable relief under this theory because it concluded that "equitable servitudes do not confer an affirmative right to enter and use another's land" and that here, the Lees were asking for an "affirmative right to use or access land [Kemp Road]." *See* Memorandum Decision, pp.5-6 (R., pp. 235-36). Second, with regard to the Lees' "partial performance" argument, the district court simply concluded that the "97 Agreement is too indefinite, incomplete, and uncertain in all of its material terms...to allow enforcement by operation of the doctrine of part performance." *See* Memorandum Decision, p.8 (R., p. 238). Accordingly, the district court concluded that summary judgment should be granted in the HOA's favor as a matter of law. *Id*.

On September 22, 2017, the Lees filed their Notice of Appeal.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

The issues on appeal are as follows:

Did the district court err in concluding that the doctrine of partial performance did not apply to the agreement between the Lees and Kemps regarding access to Kemp Road?

Should this Court apply the doctrine of equitable servitude to the present circumstances regardless of how the right to use Kemp Road is classified?

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Failed To Appreciate Facts In The Record And Evidence, Including Performance, That Establish The Terms Of Agreement Without Ambiguity

A. Introduction

In Idaho, an agreement regarding an interest in real property, in this case an easement agreement, is invalid unless that agreement is "in writing and subscribed by the party charged, or by his agent." *See* Idaho Code § 9–505(4); *see also* Idaho Code § 9–503; *Hoffman v. SV Co.*, *Inc.*, 102 Idaho 187, 190, 628 P.2d 218, 221 (1981). Here, there is no dispute. The written agreement, the 1997 Agreement, does not satisfy Idaho's statute of frauds.

However, Idaho law also makes clear that the statute of frauds shall not be construed "to abridge the power of any court to compel the specific performance of an agreement, in case of part performance thereof." Idaho Code § 9–504. The doctrine of part performance provides that when the parties to an agreement fail to reduce the agreement to writing, or otherwise fail to satisfy the statute of frauds, the agreement "may nevertheless be specifically enforced when the

purchaser has partly performed the agreement." *See Bear Island Water Ass'n, Inc. v. Brown*, 125 Idaho 717, 722, 874 P.2d 528, 533 (1994). In this case, the district court erred when it concluded that it could not apply the doctrine of partial performance simply because a term was not clear, *i.e.*, the 1997 Agreement did not include a property description. Here, the terms of the easement agreement, an agreement that was essentially already performed, was clear, not just by the 1997 Agreement, but by the actions of the parties and other parole evidence.

The Idaho Supreme Court has stated that "what constitutes part performance must depend upon the particular facts of each case and the sufficiency of particular acts is a matter of law." See Boesiger v. Freer, 85 Idaho 551, 556, 381 P.2d 803, 804 (1963). "The most important acts which constitute a sufficient part performance are actual possession, permanent and valuable improvements and these two combined." Roundy, 98 Idaho at 629, 570 P.2d at 866 (quoting Barton v. Dunlap, 8 Idaho 82, 92, 66 P. 832, 836 (1901)). The acts constituting part performance must be proven by clear and convincing evidence, Boesiger, 85 Idaho at 558, 381 P.2d at 805, and they must also be definitely referable to the alleged oral contract, Boesiger, 85 Idaho at 557, 381 P.2d at 805; Roundy, 98 Idaho at 629, 570 P.2d at 866. A review of the record shows conclusive evidence of actual possession and improvement. Indeed, there is no real dispute regarding the acts that constitute performance of the agreement. It is incontrovertible fact that Kemp Road was constructed, access points were created and that the Lees accessed their property through Kemp Road. See Memorandum Decision, pp. 2-3 (R., pp. 232-33). Regardless, the district court concluded that the 1997 Agreement "does not contain provisions

that are capable in themselves of being reduced to certainty, to allow enforcement by the operation of the doctrine of part performance.") *Id.* at p.8 (R., p. 238).

Thus, as to the "partial performance" argument, it appears that error turns on whether "the underlying contract can be proven by clear and convincing evidence." The Lees submit that the underlying agreement can be so proven and that the district court's determination that it cannot is wrong. Moreover, to the extent that the 1997 Agreement is determined to be ambiguous as to its terms (*i.e.*, lacks a property description), that ambiguity can be cured by parole evidence or at the very least creates a genuine issue of material fact that should have precluded summary judgment. Stated differently, to the extent that parole evidence in the record regarding the ambiguity is not conclusive, the Lees should have been permitted to cure that ambiguity by presenting that evidence to a trier of fact to resolve that ambiguity--something the Idaho Supreme Court has sanctioned in similar circumstances.

B. Standard Of Review

In an appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court's standard of review is the same as the standard used by the district court in passing upon a motion for summary judgment. *See Partout v. Harper*, 145 Idaho 683, 685, 183 P.3d 771, 773 (2008). "All disputed facts are to be construed liberally in favor of the non-moving party, and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the record are to be drawn in favor of the non-moving party." *Estate of Becker v. Callahan*, 140 Idaho 522, 525, 96 P.3d 623, 626 (2004). Summary judgment is proper if the "pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if

any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(c).

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