Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-3-2018

Lee v. Willow Creek Ranch Estates No. 2 Subdivision Homeowners' Association, Inc. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45390

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

The Lees argue that this Court permits the use of parol evidence to supply the terms of an agreement that has been allegedly partially performed. *See* Appellant's Brief, p. 15. However, the Lees failed to preserve this argument since they never raised the admissibility of parol evidence before the district court. Moreover, the Lees misconstrue the holdings of this Court on when parol evidence would be admissible.

The district court correctly assessed the 1997 Agreement to determine whether the agreement could be specifically enforced by the operation of the doctrine of part performance *before* resorting to any parol evidence. With respect to identifying the purported easement, the 1997 Agreement purportedly describes Kemp Road as, "the gravel road to be constructed by

Buyer adjoining Seller's property." R. p. 44. That is the extent of the description. That is not sufficient.

This Court has adopted a general standard for determining the sufficiency of legal descriptions:

Although this court has never adopted a highly defined standard for determining the sufficiency of a description of land we have adopted a general standard which was set forth in *Allen v. Kitchen*, 16 Idaho 133, 142, 100 P. 1052, 1061 (1909), quoting *Craig v. Zelian*, 137 Cal. 105, 69 P. 853 (1902).

"An agreement for the sale of real property must not only be in writing and subscribed by the party to be charged, but the writing must also contain such a description of the property agreed to be sold, either in terms or by reference, that it can be ascertained without resort to parol evidence. Parol evidence may be resorted to for the purpose of identifying the description contained in the writing, with its location upon the ground, but not for the purpose of ascertaining and locating the land about which the particular parties negotiated, and supplying a description thereof which may have been omitted from the writing."

White v. Rehn, 103 Idaho 1, 3, 644 P.2d 323, 325 (1982).

In White, the legal description was "ambiguous on its face and will not support an award for specific performance." Id. The exact location of the property at issue (960 acres of farm land) was not known at the time of the transaction and the parties agreed the exact location of the property would be "determined by survey". Id. The Court held that parol evidence would not be permitted to clarify the terms of the agreement. Id. Implicit in this Court's holding in White is the requirement that the legal description must meet the general standard articulated by the Court

in *Allen* without the assistance of parol evidence before it can be enforced pursuant to the doctrine of part performance and parol evidence is only used to marry the property described in the written agreement with its location on the ground, not to supply a description that was not agreed to at the time by the parties. *Id*.

In this case, the district court acted within its discretion when it held the 1997 Agreement could not be specifically enforced by the operation of the doctrine of part performance. The legal description is so deficient that parol evidence would be needed to not only identify the description of the road with its location on the ground, but would be needed to ascertain and locate the road and supply a description that was omitted from the 1997 Agreement – which is not permissible. The gravel road did not exist in 1997, so parol evidence would be needed to ascertain where the road was eventually constructed and then identify the access points – since that information was not known in 1997. This Court has held that in that situation (where parol evidence is needed to ascertain the location of property), an award of specific performance is not available. White v. Rehn, 103 Idaho at 3, 644 P.2d at 325. The district court did not abuse its discretion in finding the facts in the record would not support the application of the doctrine of part performance. "There is no legal right to specific performance so the district court employs its discretion to make such an award after balancing the equities between the parties." Watson v. Watson, 144 Idaho 214, 217, 159 P.3d 851, 855 (2007), citing Kessler v. Tortoise Dev., Inc., 134 Idaho 264, 270, 1 P.3d 292, 298 (2000); see also West Wood, 141 Idaho at 82, 106 P.3d at 408.

The 1997 Agreement is an agreement to agree in the future and is unenforceable for the purposes of specific performance. *See Karterman v. Jameson*, 132 Idaho 910, 914, 980 P.2d 574,

578 (Ct. App. 1999) (holding specific performance not available to enforce an ambiguous or incomplete agreement). The 1997 Agreement, in a section entitled "Future Development" notes that the parties were both "contemplating future development" and that "[i]n the event that Buyer constructs a recreational center ... Seller shall be entitled to use.... Seller shall also be entitled to 3 driveway accesses from the gravel road to be constructed by Buyer adjoining Seller's property." See R. p. 44.

In 1997, Kemp Road had not been constructed. The agreement left for future negotiations the location of the driveway accesses – which could only be determined after Kemp Road was constructed. "No enforceable contract comes into being when parties leave a material term for future negotiations, creating a mere agreement to agree." *Maroun v. Wyreless Systems, Inc.*, 141 Idaho 604, 614, 114 P.3d 974, 984 (2005) (quoting from 17A Am.Jur.2d Contracts § 181 (2004)). The location of the driveways was a material term of the agreement, if the agreement was meant to convey a right to use the driveways. Clearly, since the road had not been constructed, the parties had no idea where the purported driveways would be, leaving that issue open for future negotiations. The location of these accesses was an integral part of the agreement that could not have been negotiated, since the road did not exist.

Additionally, the accesses were "subject to seller obtaining any necessary government approvals." *Id.* Since the purported access was subject to government approvals, the grant was conditional, not final, and is not enforceable. Consequently, the parties contemplated future negotiations and the 1997 Agreement was an unenforceable agreement to agree.

The district court did not abuse its discretion in not applying the doctrine of part performance. The district court's determination that the 1997 Agreement was too indefinite, incomplete, and uncertain in its terms to allow enforcement by the operation of the doctrine of part performance was consistent with the *White* and *Watson* decisions from this Court and is based on the facts (or lack thereof) in the record.

The Lees cite to Simons v. Simons, 134 Idaho 824 11 P.3d 20 (2000) for the proposition that parol evidence may be used to supply a legal description when an agreement does not meet the requirements of the statute of frauds. Appellant's Brief, p. 15. However, Simons has been limited to its unique factual situation. In a subsequent case, this Court has limited Simons as follows: "In one case where a real estate contract failed to meet the statute of frauds only because of an inadequate property description [Simmons] (sic), this Court permitted parol evidence to clarify an ambiguous property description when the parties admitted that they agreed to the conveyance of some property in exchange for specific consideration and one of the parties fully delivered that consideration." Bauchman-Kingston P'ship, LP v. Haroldsen, 149 Idaho 87, 93, 233 P.3d 18, 24 (2008) (emphasis added). Here, there is no evidence concerning what specific consideration was given by the Lees for the purported easement to use Kemp Road. The only evidence of any consideration paid by the Lees is the \$9000 the Kemp Family Trust agreed to pay for the Kemp Property. R. p. 44. There is no evidence to support the contention that the purchase price for the Kemp Property was reduced or discounted in consideration of the alleged grant of an easement. In fact, the 1997 Agreement clearly indicates that the \$9000 was the

purchase price for the Kemp Property. The record contains no evidence of any consideration given for the alleged easement over Kemp Road.

Additionally, in this case, Willow Creek has not admitted that the prior owner of Kemp Road agreed to transfer an easement to the Lees. As noted above, the record contains no evidence that the Kemp Family Trust agreed to the transfer, since the 1997 Agreement was not signed by the Kemp Family Trust and there is no evidence demonstrating the person that signed the 1997 Agreement was authorized by the Kemp Family Trust to do so on its behalf. In *Simons*, the parties admitted the written memorandum of the property transfer agreement was signed by the parties. There is no such admission in this case nor any evidence to support the contention that the person that signed the 1997 Agreement on behalf of the Kemp Family Trust was authorized to do so.

The district court properly concluded the 1997 Agreement was too vague to be specifically enforced. The 1997 Agreement states that the Lees, "shall also be entitled to 3 driveway accesses from the gravel road to be constructed by Buyer adjoining Seller's property." R. p. 44. The 1997 Agreement fails to provide any further description of the alleged easement. At the time of the agreement, there was no road. Because the road did not exist at the time the parties allegedly executed the 1997 Agreement, the agreement is incomplete on its face. While the Lees argue this Court should hold that parol evidence can be used to clear up the lack of detail, this Court has held otherwise. *See Nicholson v. Coeur D'Alene Placer Mining Corp.*, 161 Idaho 877, 882, 392 P.3d 1218, 1223 (2017), reh'g denied (Apr. 14, 2017) ("Parol evidence may not be resorted to 'for the

purpose of ascertaining and locating the land about which the particular parties negotiated.""), citing Allen v. Kitchen, 16 Idaho 133, 142, 100 P. 1052, 1055 (1909).

The Lees ask this Court to resort to parol evidence to identify the location of Kemp Road after it was constructed and to enlarge the terms of the 1997 Agreement to include the location of the road – which necessarily is an enlargement of the 1997 Agreement since there was no gravel road at the time. The parol evidence rule does not permit the Court to enlarge the terms of the 1997 Agreement. *Simons v. Simons*, 134 Idaho 824, 828, 11 P.3d 20, 24 (2000) ("The parol evidence rule provides that when a contract has been reduced to a writing that the parties intend to be a final statement of their agreement, evidence of any prior or contemporaneous agreements or understandings which relate to the same subject matter is not admissible to vary, contradict, or enlarge the terms of the written contract."). Therefore, the description is inadequate to support a cause of action for specific performance.

The district court did not abuse its discretion in not applying the doctrine of part performance. The district court considered the undisputed facts and cited to pronouncements from this Court that supported its conclusion. The Lees have not demonstrated the district court's decision was an abuse of discretion. Willow Creek requests the Court affirm the district court's holding that the 1997 Agreement cannot be specifically enforced.

c. The Lees Have Not Established Sufficient Part Performance

Even if the Court finds the 1997 Agreement was capable of enforceable via the doctrine of part performance, the record contains no evidence that the Lees made any valuable improvements to Kemp Road or that they used Kemp Road for the purposes outlined in the 1997 Agreement,

which are the most important acts in establishing sufficient part performance. Willow Creek requests the Court affirm the district court's holding the 1997 Agreement was not enforceable on the alternate ground that the record does not contain sufficient evidence to trigger operation of the doctrine of part performance.

Sufficient part performance by a purchaser of real property removes the contract from the operation of the statute of frauds, and although the equitable doctrine of part performance is inapplicable to an action at law, satisfaction of the doctrine of part performance would entitle [the plaintiffs] to specific performance.

The most important acts which constitute a sufficient part performance are actual possession, permanent and valuable improvements and these two combined.... In addition, improvements made by a party and upon which they rely for part performance must be substantial in relation to the value of the property.

Hoffman v. S V Co., 102 Idaho 187, 191, 628 P.2d 218, 222 (1981) (emphasis added).

Under the doctrine of part performance, when an agreement to convey real property fails to meet the requirements of the statute of frauds-as in this case where the alleged agreement was not reduced to writing-the agreement may nevertheless be specifically enforced when *the purchaser* has partly performed the agreement.

Improvements, in order to constitute part performance, must be substantial in relation to the value of the property.

The acts constituting part performance must be proven by clear and convincing evidence and the must also be definitely referable to the alleged ... contract.

Bear Island Water Ass'n, Inc. v. Brown, 125 Idaho 717, 722-23, 874 P.2d 528, 533-34 (1994).

The Lees have not established that they have been in possession of Kemp Road since 1997 for development purposes and they have presented no evidence that they have ever made any

substantial improvements to Kemp Road. Therefore, they have not established sufficient part performance to constitute an exception to the statute of frauds.

The Lees contend the construction of culverts and entries by the Kemp Family Trust is evidence of part performance. *See Appellant's Brief*, p. 15. However, the Lees need to demonstrate that they (not the Kemp Family Trust) made substantial improvements to Kemp Road. The record is void of any evidence of improvements to Kemp Road made by *the Lees*, let alone evidence of substantial improvements in relation to the value of the property.

Likewise, there is no evidence in the record establishing that the Lees have taken actual possession of Kemp Road under and for the purposes set forth in the 1997 Agreement. The Lees contend the access through Kemp Road was to be for development purposes. See R. p. 13 ("The purpose of [the 1997 Agreement] was to ensure access for the Lees at a future date when the Lees developed the Lee Development Property.") (emphasis added). It is undisputed that the Lees have not developed their property. Therefore, the Lees have never accessed their property via Kemp Road pursuant to the 1997 Agreement. Consequently, the Lees have not met the requirements for partial performance and they are not entitled to specific performance of the 1997 Agreement. See Simons, 134 Idaho at 827, 11 P.3d at 23 ("The acts constituting part performance must be proven by clear and convincing evidence, and they must also be definitely referable to the alleged oral contract.").

Willow Creek requests the Court affirm the dismissal of the Lees' easement claim because the record does not support application of the part performance doctrine.

d. The Lees Claim for Specific Performance was not raised below

The Lees explicitly argued to the district court that they were not seeking specific performance as a remedy. The Lees argued to the district court as follows:

The HOA makes a desperate attempt to argue that the Lees' are requesting new relief, "specific performance" of the 1997 Agreement. See HOA Reply Memo in Support of MSJ, pp. 8-10. The HOA makes up this "specific performance,' argument because it provides the HOA a number of new and different defenses. However, the argument is based on a faulty premise—that the Lees are asking this Court for specific performance. The Lees are not asking for specific performance (the access points and the Lees already have access and the HOA has nothing to perform). Indeed, a review of the pleadings affirmative proves this.

See R. 219 (emphasis added).

The Lees took the position that they were not seeking specific performance as a remedy before the district court. Therefore because the Lees, by their own admission, did not raise the issue of specific performance before the district court, the issue is not properly before this Court. "It is clearly established under Idaho law that a cause of action not raised in a party's pleadings may not be considered on summary judgment nor may it be considered for the first time on appeal." *Kelly v. State*, 149 Idaho 517, 523, 236 P.3d 1277, 1283 (2010). The Lees took the position that they were not seeking specific performance and argued that claim was not raised in their pleadings. Therefore, the claim should not be considered on appeal.

e. The Lees Claim for Specific Performance is Barred by the Statute of Limitations.

A cause of action for specific performance of a written real estate purchase and sale agreement is a form of breach of contract and is subject to a five-year statute of limitations. *See Peterson v. Gentillon*, 154 Idaho 184, 189, 296 P.3d 390, 395 (2013) (holding Idaho Code § 5-216

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